
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Notice of meeting of  

Joint Standards Committee -  Assessments Sub-Committee 
 
To: Councillors Rowley BEM and Kent (CYC Members)  

Councillor Waudby (Parish Council Member) 
 
Mr J Leigh (Independent Person)  
 

Date: Thursday, 1 May 2025 
 

Time: 4.00 pm 
 

Venue: West Offices - Station Rise, York YO1 6GA 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
 
1. Appointment of Chair    
 To appoint a member to chair the meeting. 

 
2. Apologies for Absence    
 To receive and note apologies for absence. 

 
3. Declarations of Interest   (Pages 5 - 6) 
 At this point in the meeting, Members and co-opted members are 

asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interest, or other 
registerable interest, they might have in respect of business on 
this agenda, if they have not already done so in advance on the 
Register of Interests. The disclosure must include the nature of 
the interest. 
 
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it 
becomes apparent to the member during the meeting. 
 
[Please see attached sheet for further guidance for Members]. 
 

4. Exclusion of Press and Public    



 

 To consider excluding the public and press from the meeting 
during consideration of the private report at Agenda Item 5 on the 
grounds that it contains information relating to individuals and 
information likely to reveal the identity of individuals. This 
information is classed as exempt under Private Document Pack 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 12A to Section 100A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006. 
 
Note: the private reports referred to above follow the public report 
on each item in the agenda papers. 
 

5. Code of Conduct Complaint received in 
respect of a Parish Councillor   

(Pages 7 - 52) 

 To consider a complaint of breach of the Code of Conduct received 
in respect of a Parish Councillor and determine next steps.  
 

6. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Democratic Services Officer responsible for this meeting:  
 
Name: Ben Jewitt 
Contact details: 

 Telephone – (01904) 553073 

 E-mail – benjamin.jewitt@york.gov.uk   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

mailto:benjamin.jewitt@york.gov.uk


Declarations of Interest – guidance for Members 
 
(1) Members must consider their interests, and act according to the 

following: 
 

Type of Interest You must 

Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests 

Disclose the interest, not participate 
in the discussion or vote, and leave 
the meeting unless you have a 
dispensation. 

Other Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

OR 

Non-Registrable 
Interests (Directly 
Related) 

Disclose the interest; speak on the 
item only if the public are also 
allowed to speak, but otherwise not 
participate in the discussion or vote, 
and leave the meeting unless you 
have a dispensation. 

Other Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

OR 

Non-Registrable 
Interests (Affects) 

Disclose the interest; remain in the 
meeting, participate and vote unless 
the matter affects the financial 
interest or well-being: 

(a) to a greater extent than it affects 
the financial interest or well-being of 
a majority of inhabitants of the 
affected ward; and 

(b) a reasonable member of the 
public knowing all the facts would 
believe that it would affect your view 
of the wider public interest. 

In which case, speak on the item 
only if the public are also allowed to 
speak, but otherwise do not 
participate in the discussion or vote, 
and leave the meeting unless you 
have a dispensation. 

 
(2) Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to the Member concerned or 

their spouse/partner. 
 

(3) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months must 
not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget calculations, 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



and must disclose at the meeting that this restriction applies to 
them. A failure to comply with these requirements is a criminal 
offence under section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. 

 

Page 4



 

 

  
 

   

 
Joint Standards Assessments Sub-Committee 
 

1 May 2025 

Report of the Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

Code of Conduct Complaints received in respect of a Parish Councillor  
 
Summary 

 
1. To consider two complaints of breach of the Code of Conduct received in 

respect of a Parish Councillor and determine next steps. 
 

Recommendations 
 
2. The options available to the Sub-Committee are as follows:  

 
a. Rule complaint 1 out of scope. 

 
b. Rule complaint 1 in scope and choose to (i) take no further action, (ii) 

seek to resolve the matter informally; or (iii) refer the matter for 
investigation.   

 
Option B is recommended. 
 
In either eventuality there are no rights of appeal to this decision. 
 
c. Rule complaint 2 out of scope. 

 
d. Rule complaint 2 in scope and choose to (i) take no further action, (ii) 

seek to resolve the matter informally; or (iii) refer the matter for 
investigation.   

 
Option B is recommended. 
 
In either eventuality there are no rights of appeal to this decision. 
 

 
 
 

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



 

Complaint 1 
Background 
 
3. On 28 March 2025, the Monitoring Officer received a complaint alleging 

that a Parish Councillor of Heworth Without Parish Council had breached 
the Code of Conduct by inappropriate use of council resources, and in 
behaving disrespectfully when this action was queried.  

 
4. The complainant alleges that the Councillor used a “gov.uk” email 

account for parish council business, and in doing so shared a link to a 
petition that had been set up and distributed by a political party. The 
complainant maintains that “gov.uk” domains are not permitted to be 
used for political purposes in a way which could be perceived as being 
politically biased, including political campaigning, and that the action of 
the Councillor represents a breach of the terms of use of a “gov.uk” 
domain.  

5. In querying the sharing of the petition link with the Parish Council, the 
complainant alleges that the Councillor’s response, accepting their 
“apology” was intended to cause embarrassment and that this is 
“gaslighting” type behaviour.  

6. The complainant contacted domains.gov.uk to report the alleged breach. 
The complainant advised that, on 28 March 2025, they officially reported 
the Councillor to domains.gov.uk.  

7. The complainant therefore asserts that the Councillor’s actions in sharing 
the petition link via the gov.uk domain, and their subsequent behaviour in 
responding to them querying the matter, may constitute breaches of the 
following aspects of the Code of Conduct: 

(1.) Respect 

(3.) Impartiality of officers of the council 

(6.) Use of position  

(7.) Use of local authority resources and facilities 

 
Complaint 2 
Background 
 

8. On 16 April 2025, the Monitoring Officer received a further complaint 
against a Heworth Without Parish Councillor.  

Page 6



 

 
9. This complaint concerns a leaflet that was distributed to households 

within Heworth Without Parish. A member of the public had referred the 
leaflet to the Chair of Heworth Without Parish Council (HWPC) and the 
complainant alleges this is an attempt to politicise and influence a 
Heworth Without Parish Council vote. 

10. The complainant alleges that the leaflet is not a fair, balanced or truthful 
representation of the facts and is intended to cause reputational damage 
to HWPC.  The complainant maintains that this may constitute a breach 
of the following aspects of the Code of Conduct:   

(3.) Impartiality of officers of the Council 

(5.) Disrepute  

 
Procedure 
 
11. Under the Case Handling Procedure set out in Appendix 29 of the 

Constitution, an initial filter is applied to all complaints, essentially “is 
there a case to answer?” 
 

12. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for applying that filter except that 
under paragraph 5 of the Procedure, cases of complaints against a 
member of the Executive or Shadow Executive or a committee chair or 
deputy, must be referred to a JSC Sub Committee.  

 
13. In all cases, the subject member is notified of the complaint and may 

provide comments.  
 

14. An Independent Person is also invited to give a view on what should 
happen next. The assessments of the IP should be considered in 
determining which of the following actions, under paragraph 9 should 
follow for each complaint, namely  

a. to take no further action;  

b. to seek to resolve the matter informally; or  

c. to refer the matter for investigation.  

15. These will be the options available to the Sub Committee if either 
complaint is determined to be in scope. Guidance on factors to be taken 
into account is offered in Paragraph 10 of the Procedure. 

Page 7



 

 
Advice of Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Initial Assessment – Jurisdictional Test (can we look at the complaint?) 

 
16. The matters to consider in applying the initial filter are set out in 

Paragraph 4 of the Procedure: 
 

i. check that the complaint is against a councillor;  
 

ii. that they were in office at the time of the alleged incident; and  
 

iii. that the matter would be capable of being a breach of the Code. 
The Council has no authority to deal with complaints which relate 
solely to a councillor’s private life or things they do which are not 
related to their role as a councillor or as a representative of the 
council. 
 

17. Factors i and ii are clearly satisfied in the case of both complaints. The 
inappropriate use of Council resources, disrespectful behaviour to a 
fellow councillor and any action that causes reputational harm to the 
parish council could be capable of constituting a breach of the Code. 
Members must decide if there is evidence of such behaviours which 
establishes a case to answer in both complaints. If so, the matter is in 
scope. 
 

2nd Stage Test (Should we look at the complaint?) 
 
18. If the jurisdictional tests have been met, the sub-committee should 

continue to determine the appropriate course of action for each 
complaint, taking into account the assessment criteria found in 
paragraph 10 of the Case Handling Procedure namely: 
 

a. does the complaint contain sufficient evidence to demonstrate a 
potential breach of the Code?; 

b. are there alternative, more appropriate, remedies that should be 
explored first?; 

c. where the complaint is by one councillor against another, a greater 
allowance for robust political debate (but not personal abuse or 
unparliamentary language may be given 

d. is the complaint in the view of the MO malicious, politically motivated 
or “tit for tat” 

Page 8



 

e. whether an investigation would not be in the public interest or the 
matter, even if proven, would not warrant any sanction; 

f. whether the complaint is the same as one which has previously been 
considered and no new material evidence has been submitted within the 
current administration; 

g. whether the same complaint has been submitted and accepted; 

h. does the complaint relate to conduct in the distant past (over six 
months before)? This would include any reason why there had been a 
delay in making the complaint; 

i. does the complaint actually relate to dissatisfaction with a Council (or 
parish council) decision rather than the specific conduct of an individual?; 
and 

j. is it about someone who is no longer a councillor or who is seriously ill? 

 
19. Members may consider factors a, b, c, d and e relevant to both cases. 

 
The Heworth Without Parish Council Code of Conduct  

20. The HWPC Code of Conduct states: 

1. Respect As a councillor:  

1.1 I treat other councillors and members of the public with respect.  

1.2 I treat local authority employees, employees and representatives of 
partner organisations and those volunteering for the local authority with 
respect and respect the role they play.  

Respect means politeness and courtesy in behaviour, speech, and in the 
written word. Debate and having different views are all part of a healthy 
democracy. As a councillor, you can express, challenge, criticise and 
disagree with views, ideas, opinions and policies in a robust but civil 
manner. You should not, however, subject individuals, groups of people 
or organisations to personal attack. In your contact with the public, you 
should treat them politely and courteously.  

Rude and offensive behaviour lowers the public’s expectations and 
confidence in councillors. In return, you have a right to expect respectful 
behaviour from the public. If members of the public are being abusive, 
intimidatory or threatening you are entitled to stop any conversation or 

Page 9



 

interaction in person or online and report them to the local authority, the 
relevant social media provider or the police.  

This also applies to fellow councillors, where action could then be taken 
under the Councillor Code of Conduct, and local authority employees, 
where concerns should be raised in line with the local authority’s 
councillorofficer protocol.  

3. Impartiality of officers of the council  

As a councillor:  

3.1 I do not compromise, or attempt to compromise, the impartiality of 
anyone who works for, or on behalf of, the local authority. Officers work 
for the local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless 
they are political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded 
to act in a way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question 
officers in order to understand, for example, their reasons for proposing 
to act in a particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. 
However, you must not try and force them to act differently, change their 
advice, or alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their 
professional integrity 

5. Disrepute  
 
As a councillor:  
 
5.1 I do not bring my role or local authority into disrepute. As a 
Councillor, you are trusted to make decisions on behalf of your 
community and your actions and behaviour are subject to greater 
scrutiny than that of ordinary members of the public. You should be 
aware that your actions might have an adverse impact on you, other 
councillors and/or your local authority and may lower the public’s 
confidence in your or your local authority’s ability to discharge your/its 
functions. For example, behaviour that is considered dishonest and/or 
deceitful can bring your local authority into disrepute. You are able to 
hold the local authority and fellow councillors to account and are able to 
constructively challenge and express concern about decisions and 
processes undertaken by the council whilst continuing to adhere to 
other aspects of this Code of Conduct.  

 
6. Use of position  
 
As a councillor:  

Page 10



 

 
6.1 I do not use, or attempt to use, my position improperly to the 
advantage or disadvantage of myself or anyone else. Your position as a 
member of the local authority provides you with certain opportunities, 
responsibilities, and privileges, and you make choices all the time that 
will impact others. However, you should not take advantage of these 
opportunities to further your own or others’ private interests or to 
disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

 
7. Use of local authority resources and facilities  
 
As a councillor:  
 
7.1 I do not misuse council resources.  
 
7.2 I will, when using the resources of the local authority or authorising 
their use by others:  

• a. act in accordance with the local authority's requirements; and  
• b. ensure that such resources are not used for political purposes 

unless that use could reasonably be regarded as likely to facilitate, or 
be conducive to, the discharge of the functions of the local authority or 
of the office to which I have been elected or appointed. You may be 
provided with resources and facilities by the local authority to assist you 
in carrying out your duties as a councillor.  

Examples include:  
• office support  
• stationery  
• equipment such as phones, and computers  
• transport  
• access and use of local authority buildings and rooms.  
 

These are given to you to help you carry out your role as a councillor 
more effectively and are not to be used for business or personal gain. 
They should be used in accordance with the purpose for which they have 
been provided and the local authority’s own policies regarding their use. 
 

Local Government Association Guidance 
 
21. The Local Government Association publishes guidance on interpretation 

of the Code and complaints handling which is referred to as a 
background document. The introductory paragraph on respect sets the 
context: 
 

Page 11



 

“You will engage in robust debate at times and are expected to express, 
challenge, criticise and disagree with views, ideas, opinions, and policies. 
Doing these things in a respectful way will help you to build and maintain 
healthy working relationships with fellow councillors, officers, and 
members of the public, it encourages others to treat you with respect and 
helps to avoid conflict and stress. Respectful and healthy working 
relationships and a culture of mutual respect can encourage positive 
debate and meaningful communication which in turn can increase the 
exchange of ideas, understanding and knowledge.” 

 
22. Other Key aspects of that guidance regarding disrespect are: 

 
a. The key roles and responsibilities of councillors; representing and 

serving your communities and taking decisions on their behalf, 
require councillors to interact and communicate effectively with 
others. 

b. Ways in which you can show respect are by being polite and 
courteous, listening and paying attention to others, having 
consideration for other people’s feelings, following protocols and 
rules, showing appreciation and thanks and being kind. 

c. Disrespectful behaviour can take many different forms ranging from 
overt acts of abuse and disruptive or bad behaviour to insidious 
actions such as bullying and the demeaning treatment of others. 

d. Failure to treat others with respect will occur when unreasonable or 
demeaning behaviour is directed by one person against or about 
another; 

e. The circumstances in which the behaviour occurs are relevant in 
assessing whether the behaviour is disrespectful and include the 
place where the behaviour occurs, who observes the behaviour, the 
character and relationship of the people involved  

f. Examples of disrespect in a local government context might include 
rude or angry outbursts in meetings, use of inappropriate language in 
meetings or written communications such as swearing, ignoring 
someone who is attempting to contribute to a discussion, or attempts 
to shame or humiliate others in public. 
 

23. In relation to impartiality the Guidance states that “Officers work for the 
local authority as a whole and must be politically neutral (unless they are 
political assistants). They should not be coerced or persuaded to act in a 
way that would undermine their neutrality. You can question officers in 
order to understand, for example, their reasons for proposing to act in a 
particular way, or the content of a report that they have written. However, 
you must not try and force them to act differently, change their advice, or 

Page 12



 

alter the content of that report, if doing so would prejudice their 
professional integrity.  

“Both councillors and officers are servants of the public and are 
indispensable to one another. Together, they bring the critical skills, 
experience and knowledge required to manage an effective local 
authority. 

“At the heart of this relationship, is the importance of mutual respect. 
Councillor-officer relationships should be conducted in a positive and 
constructive way. Therefore, it is important that any dealings between 
councillors and officers should observe reasonable standards of courtesy, 
should show mutual appreciation of the importance of their respective 
roles and that neither party should seek to take unfair advantage of their 
position or seek to exert undue influence on the other party.” 

24. With regard to Disrepute, the Guidance states: 

“In general terms, disrepute can be defined as a lack of good reputation 
or respectability. In the context of the Code of Conduct, a councillor’s 
behaviour in office will bring their role into disrepute if the conduct could 
reasonably be regarded as either: 

a) reducing the public’s confidence in them being able to fulfil their role; 
or 

b) adversely affecting the reputation of your authority’s councillors, in 
being able to fulfil their role. 

25. The guidance on Misuse of position advises:  “Your position as a 
councillor provides you with certain opportunities, responsibilities, and 
privileges, and you make choices all the time that will impact others. 
However, you should not take advantage of these opportunities to further 
your own or others’ private interests or to disadvantage anyone unfairly. 

“You should not use, or attempt to use, your public office either for your 
or anybody else’s personal gain or loss. For example, your behaviour 
would be improper if you sought to further your own private interests 
through your position as a councillor. 

“Involving yourself in a decision in which you have an interest, to seek to 
benefit yourself or another would be a breach of this paragraph of the 
code. For guidance on how to conduct yourself when you have an 
interest and how to balance your rights as an individual and your 

Page 13



 

responsibilities as a public decision maker see the chapter on 
registration of interests.” 

 

26. With respect to Misuse of resources, the guidance states: “You should 
never use local authority resources for purely political purposes, including 
designing and distributing party political material produced for publicity 
purposes. 

“However, your authority may authorise you to use its resources and 
facilities for legitimate political purposes in connection with your authority’s 
business. For example, holding surgeries in your ward and dealing with 
correspondence from your constituents. In this case, you must be aware 
of the limitations placed upon such use for these purposes. Using your 
authority’s resources outside of these limitations is likely to amount to a 
breach of the Code of Conduct. Where you are part of a formally-
recognised political group, your local authority is also allowed to give you 
such resources as you need for local authority business, for example use 
of a room for group meetings.” 

It then goes on to clarify what constitutes resources of the local authority:   

“The resources of the local authority include services and facilities as 
well as the financial resources of the authority. 

“Resources could include any land or premises, equipment, computers, 
and materials. The time, skills, and assistance of anybody employed by 
the authority, or working on its behalf, are also resources, as is 
information held by the authority which it has not published. 

27. The guidance goes on to state that the section of the code on improper 
use of resources complements Section 2 of the Local Government Act 1986, 
which prevents the publication of material "designed to affect public support 
for a political party". The code, however, goes further than the Code of 
Recommended Practice on Publicity. It covers not only the publication of 
campaigning material but also any other activity that is intended to promote 
purely party-political interests. …… Publicity is defined as “any 
communication, in whatever form, addressed to the public at large or to a 
section of the public”. It will cover meetings, websites, and social media 
postings as well as printed and other written material.” 

Options 
 

28. The Sub-Committee must now consider the following options: 

Page 14



 

 
Complaint 1 
 
a. Rule that the complaint is out of scope. 

 
b. Rule that the complaint is in scope and choose to (i) take no further 

action, (ii) seek to resolve the matter informally; or (iii) refer the 
matter for investigation.   

 
Complaint 2 

 
a. Rule that the complaint is out of scope. 

 
b. Rule that the complaint is in scope and choose to (i) take no further 

action, (ii) seek to resolve the matter informally; or (iii) refer the 
matter for investigation.   

 
Implications 
 

Financial 
 
29. There will be costs incurred in the event that either matter progresses 

to investigation. 
 
Human Resources (HR) 
 

30. Not applicable to this report. 
 
 
Equalities 
 

31. Councillors are offered the support of an Independent Person as part 
of the Complaints Handling Procedure.  
 
Legal 
 

32. The Monitoring Officer is required to consider all formal complaints 
received in respect of the Code of Conduct in line with the published 
Procedure for managing Code of Conduct Complaints. 
 
Crime and Disorder, Information Technology (IT) and Property 
 

33. Not applicable to this report. 

Page 15



 

 
Other 
 

34. Not applicable to this report. 
 
 
Contact Details 
 
Author and Officer 
Responsible for the report: 
Lindsay Tomlinson 

 
 

 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 

Tel No. 07591 337143 

 
 
 

Report 
Approved 

√ 
Date 22 April 2025 

 
    

  
For further information please contact the author of the report 

 
Background Papers: 
 

 Heworth Without Parish Council code of conduct  
CODE OF CONDUCT HWPC November 2023.pdf 

 City of York Council Code of Conduct and Procedure for Handling of 
Complaints 
Appendix 29 - Joint Standards Committee Procedures.pdf 

 LGA Guidance on Model Councillor Code of Conduct 
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-
association-model-councillor-code-conduct#respect 
 
 

Page 16

https://www.heworthwithout.org.uk/_UserFiles/Files/Policies%202024/CODE%20OF%20CONDUCT%20HWPC%20November%202023.pdf
https://democracy.york.gov.uk/documents/s173414/Appendix%2029%20-%20Joint%20Standards%20Committee%20Procedures.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct#respect
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guidance-local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct#respect


Document is Restricted

Page 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 31
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 33
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 39
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 43
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 45
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Declarations of Interest
	5 Code of Conduct Complaint received in respect of a Parish Councillor
	JSC Sub Private Report 1 May 25
	Annex 1
	Annex 2
	Annex 3
	Annex 4
	Annex 5
	Annex 6
	Annex 7
	Annex 8


